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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of Axion Ventures Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Axion Ventures Inc. (the Entity), 

which comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018  

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) for the year then ended 

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 2.4 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Entity has 

incurred losses for the past three years, has a working capital deficiency, and has negative 

cash flows from operations.  

As stated in Note 2.4 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other 

matters as set forth in Note 2.4 in the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty 

exists that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Emphasis of Matter – Comparative Information 
We draw attention to Note 2.1 to the financial statements (“Note 2.1”), which explains that 

certain comparative information presented: 

• for the year ended December 31, 2017 has been restated. 
• as at January 1, 2017 has been derived from the financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2016 which have been restated (not presented herein). 
Note 2.1 explains the reason for the restatement and also explains the adjustments that were 

applied to restate certain comparative information.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 

(not presented herein but from which the comparative information as at January 1, 2017 has 

been derived), excluding the adjustments that were applied to restate certain comparative 

information, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 

financial statements on May 31, 2018. 

As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, we 

also audited the adjustments that were applied to restate certain comparative information 

presented: 

• for the year ended December 31, 2017, and 

• as at January 1, 2017.  

In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. 

Other than with respect to the adjustments that were applied to restate certain comparative 

information, we were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the financial 

statements: 

• as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017, 

• for the year ended December 31, 2016 (not presented herein), or 

• as at January 1, 2017.  

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on those financial 

statements taken as a whole. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 

Canadian Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 

and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information included in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed 

with the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, 

based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the 

auditors’ report.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 

to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
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We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Arnold Singh. 

Vancouver, Canada 

April 30, 2019 
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    2018  2017 
  Notes  $’000  $’000 
    

 
 (Restated – 

see note 2.1) 
       
Revenue  6  8,915  6,663 
Cost of sales    (4,758)  (3,652) 

       
Gross profit    4,157  3,011 
       
Research and development expenses    (1,451)  (1,625) 
Selling and distribution expenses    (701)  (1,116) 
General and administrative expenses    (9,838)  (9,033) 

       

Loss from operations    (7,833)  (8,763) 
       
Other income    39  505 
Finance income  10  19  20 
Finance expense  10  (450)  (55) 
Fair value loss on other investments  15  (1,465)  - 
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments  19  460  - 
Foreign currency exchange gain    (66)  45 

       
Loss before income tax    (9,296)  (8,248) 
       

Income tax expense  11  (24)  - 

       
Loss for the year    (9,320)  (8,248) 

       
Other comprehensive income:       
       
Item that will or may be reclassified to profit or 

loss: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign 

operations 
 

 
 

52 
 

582 

       
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 

tax of nil (2017 – nil) 
 

 
 

52 
 

582 

       
Total comprehensive loss    (9,268)  (7,666) 

       

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.   
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    2018  2017 
  Notes  $’000  $’000 
      

(Restated – 
see note 2.1) 

       
Loss for the year attributable to:       
Owners of the Company    (9,136)  (6,889) 
Non-controlling interests    (184)  (1,359) 

       
    (9,320)  (8,248) 

       
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable 
to: 

 
 

    

Owners of the Company    (9,089)  (6,530) 
Non-controlling interests    (179)  (1,136) 

       
    (9,268)  (7,666) 

       
Loss per share attributable to owners of the 

Company 
 

12 
   

 
Basic    (4.47 cents)  (3.40 cents) 
Diluted    (4.47 cents)  (3.40 cents) 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.   
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   December 31,  

2018 
 December 31,  

2017 
 January 1,  

2017  
 Notes  $’000  $’000  $’000  
   

 
 (Restated – see 

note 2.1) 
 (Restated – see 

note 2.1)  
Assets         
Non-current assets         
Intangible assets 13  12,525  7,665  4,630  
Property, plant and equipment 14  780  743  111  
Other investments 15  -  1,521  361  
Loan to related parties   279  297  -  

         
   13,584  10,226  5,102  

         
Current assets         
Trade and other receivables 16  2,216  1,287  1,293  
Derivative financial instruments 19  129  -  -  
Cash and cash equivalents 17  2,689  3,699  7,166  

         
Total current assets   5,034  4,986  8,459  

         
Total assets   18,618  15,212  13,561  

         
Liabilities         
Current liabilities         
Trade and other payables 18  3,895  4,657  4,520  
Loan from related parties   7,894  559  -  
Deferred revenue   4,035  2,834  2,622  
Derivative financial instruments 19  638  -  -  

         
Total current liabilities   16,462  8,050  7,142  
         
Net current (liabilities)/assets   (11,428)  (3,064)  1,317  

         
Non-current liabilities         
Convertible debentures 19  3,061  -  -  
Deferred tax liabilities 11  22  -  -  

         
Total Non-current liabilities   3,083  -  -  
         
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS   (927)  7,162  6,419  
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   December 31,  

2018 
 December 31,  

2017 
 January 1,  

2017  
 Notes  $’000  $’000  $’000  

  
 

  (Restated – see 
note 2.1) 

 (Restated – see 
note 2.1) 

 

         
Issued capital and reserves attributable to 

owners of the Company 
 

 
      

Share capital 20  30,157  29,203  22,032  
Foreign currency translation reserve 21  421  374  15  
Share-based payment reserve 21   2,085  1,524  412  
Accumulated losses 21  (33,326)  (23,818)  (17,055)  

         
   (663)  7,283  5,404  
         

Non-controlling interests   (264)  (121)  1,015  
         

TOTAL EQUITY   (927)  7,162  6,419  

 
 
 
Going concern (note 2.4) 
Commitments (note 26) 
Event after the reporting date (note 30) 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
 
The consolidated financial statements  were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
April 30, 2019 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
/s/ John Todd Bonner /s/ Stephen Willey 
John Todd Bonner Stephen Willey 
Chairman and CEO Director 
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 Equity attributable to the owners of the Company     

 

Share capital  

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve  

Share-based 
payment 
reserve  Other reserve  

Accumulated 
losses  Total  

Non-
controlling 
interests  Total equity 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
                

At January 1, 2018 as restated (see 
note 2.1) 

29,203  374  1,524  -  (23,818)  7,283  (121)  7,162 

                
Comprehensive income for the year                
Loss for the year -  -  -  -  (9,136)  (9,136)  (184)  (9,320) 
Exchange difference arising on 

translation of foreign operations 
 

- 
  

47 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
  

47 
  

5 
  

52 

                
Total comprehensive income for the 

year 
 

- 
  

47 
  

- 
  

- 
  

(9,136) 
  

(9,089) 
  

(179) 
  

(9,268) 
                
Contributions by and distributions to 

owners 
               

Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payments 

 
- 

  
- 

  
866 

  
- 

  
- 

  
866 

  
- 

  
866 

Acquisition of NCI -  -  -  -  (430)  (430)  36  (394) 
Forfeiture of share options -  -  (58)  -  58  -  -  - 
Exercise of share options 567  -  (170)  -  -  397  -  397 
Issuance of new shares 387  -  (77)  -  -  310  -  310 

                
Total contributions by and 

distributions to owners 
 

954 
  

- 
  

561 
  

- 
  

(372) 
  

1,143 
  

36 
  

1,179 

                
At December 31, 2018 30,157  421  2,085  -  (33,326)  (663)  (264)  (927) 
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 Equity attributable to the owners of the Company     

  
 
 
 
 Share capital  

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve  

Share-based 
payment 
reserve  Other reserve  

Accumulated 
losses  Total  

Non-
controlling 
interests  Total equity 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
                

At January 1, 2017 as restated (see 
note 2.1) 

22,032  15  412  -  (17,055)  5,404  1,015  6,419 

                
Comprehensive income for the year                
Loss for the year -  -  -  -  (6,889)  (6,889)  (1,359)  (8,248) 
Exchange difference arising on 

translation of foreign operations 
 

- 
  

359 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
  

359 
  

223 
  

582 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 

 
- 

  
359 

  
- 

  
- 

  
(6,889) 

  
(6,530) 

  
(1,136) 

  
(7,666) 

                
Contributions by and distributions to 

owners 
               

Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payments 

 
- 

  
- 

  
1,238 

  
- 

  
- 

  
1,238 

  
- 

  
1,238 

Forfeiture of share options -  -  (115)  -  115  -  -  - 
Exercise of warrants 22  -  (11)  -  11  22  -  22 
Issuance of new shares 7,634  -  -  -  -  7,634  -  7,634 
Share issue costs (485)  -  -  -  -  (485)  -  (485) 

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners 

 
7,171 

  
- 

  
1,112 

  
- 

  
126 

  
8,409 

  
- 

  
8,409 

                
At December 31, 2017 as restated 
(see note 2.1) 

 
29,203 

  
374 

  
1,524 

 -   
(23,818) 

  
7,283 

  
(121) 

  
7,162 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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  2018  2017 
 Notes $’000  $’000 

  
  

(Restated – see 
note 2.1) 

     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Loss before income tax  (9,296)  (8,248) 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 208  89 
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 13  47 
Share-based payments 21 866  1,222 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets 13 -  86 
Provision for impairment of other investments 15 -  387 
Fair value loss on other investments 15 1,465  - 
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 19 (460)  - 
Deferred tax liabilities 11 22  - 
Write off of trade receivables 16 11  266 
Reversal of bad debt written-off  (394)  - 
Finance income 10 (19)  (20) 
Finance expense 10 450  55 
     

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital  (7,134)  (6,116) 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (940)  (557) 
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables  (763)  696 

Increase in deferred revenue  1,201  212 
     

Cash used in operations  (7,636)  (5,765) 
Income taxes paid  -  - 
     

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (7,636)  (5,765) 
     

Investing activities     
Additions of internally generated computer software and 
acquired computer software 

13 (4,874)  (3,165) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (248)  (705) 
Addition of other investments 15 -  (1,521) 
Interest received  19  20 
     

Net cash used in investing activities  (5,103)  (5,371) 
     

Financing activities     
Issue of shares, net of transaction costs 20 402  7,171 

Proceeds from issue of convertible debentures  3,909  - 
Increase in loan payables from related parties  7,336  - 
Interest paid  -  (55) 
     

Net cash flows generated from financing activities  11,647  7,116 
     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,092)  (4,020) 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  3,699  7,166 
     

Exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents  82  553 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,689  3,699 

Supplemental Information (note 27) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.   
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1. General information 
 
Axion Ventures Inc. (“Axion Ventures” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the British Columbia Business 
Corporations Act on June 21, 2011, is domiciled in Canada and was originally classified as a Capital Pool Company 
(“CPC”) as defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V” or the “Exchange"). 
 
On December 2, 2011, the shares of the Company commenced trading under the symbol “CSP.P”. The principal 
business of the Company was the identification and evaluation of assets or businesses with a view to completing 
a Qualifying Transaction (“QT”) as defined under the policies of the TSX-V. On March 24, 2014, the Company 
moved from the TSX-V to the NEX board of the TSX-V trading under the symbol “CSP.H”.  
 
On May 11, 2016, the Company completed its QT as particularly described in its TSX-V filing statement previously 
filed with Canadian regulatory authorities. As a result of the completion of the QT, the Company ceased to be a 
CPC, and following receipt of final Exchange approval, the Company was listed as a Tier 2 Investment Issuer on 
the Exchange on May 18, 2016 under the symbol “CSP”. 
 
On November 1, 2016, the Company was approved for graduation from Tier 2 Investment Issuer to Tier 1 
Investment Issuer status by the TSX-V. With the graduation to a Tier 1 listing, the common shares of the Company 
previously deposited into escrow pursuant to the rules of the TSX-V are governed by the release provisions of 
Tier 1 Issuer’s escrow. 
 
On March 9, 2017, the Company changed its name from “Capstream Ventures Inc.” to “Axion Ventures Inc.” and 
effective from March 10, 2017, the Company’s common shares traded under the new name and new symbol 
“AVX” on the TSX-V. 
 
After the completion of the QT, Axion Ventures became an investment issuer primarily focused on investments 
in the online video gaming sector, as well as other information technology (“IT”) sectors. 
 

On October 25, 2018, the Company's common shares commenced trading on the OTCQX® Best Market in the 

United States under the symbol "AXNVF". 
 

The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 1500 - 409 Granville Street 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1T2, Canada.  
 

2. Basis of preparation and prior year adjustments 
2.1 Prior year adjustments 

 

Restatement #1 – The QT, described in note 1, was accomplished through an exchange of shares, which 
resulted in the former shareholders of Axion Games Limited (“Axion Games”) obtaining control of the 
Company. Accordingly, the QT was recorded as a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes, as Axion 
Games was deemed to be the acquirer and the Company the acquiree. Accordingly, the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company were presented as a continuation of the financial statements of 
Axion Games, whereby the consolidated financial statements include the historical operations and 
assets and liabilities of Axion Games, and those of Axion Ventures from May 11, 2016. As the 
shareholders of Axion Games obtained control of the Company, the share exchange had been 
recognized to reflect the substance of the transaction, which is a capital transaction, rather than a 
business combination. That is, the transaction is a reverse recapitalisation, equivalent to the issuance of 
shares by the private company, Axion Games, for the net monetary assets of the public shell company 
(Axion Ventures), accompanied by a recapitalisation. The assets, liabilities and equity balances of Axion 
Games continued to be recognised at their carrying value and at the date of the QT, the assets and 
liabilities of Axion Ventures were included at fair value. At the date of the QT, the amounts recognised  
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2. Basis of preparation and prior year adjustments (continued) 
2.1 Prior year adjustments (continued) 

 
in equity comprised the share capital of Axion Ventures (the legal parent) and the accumulated reserves 
of Axion Games (the legal subsidiary). 

 
During 2018, the Company re-assessed the accounting for the QT completed in May 2016. In accounting 
for the QT, the Company erroneously recognised the value of the common shares issued to acquire 
shares to the former shareholders of Axion Games, pursuant to which the Company acquired an interest 
of 51.01% of Axion Games, in addition to the carrying value of the share capital in Axion Games. 
Therefore, the share capital balance was not presented as a continuation of that of Axion Games, but 
overstated for the value of common shares issued. It has been determined that additional value added 
to share capital and other reserve (deficit) should not have been recognized. 

  
The correction affects the consolidated statement of financial position of the Company as at January 1, 
2017 and December 31, 2017 by (i) decreasing share capital by $34,536,000; (ii) increasing the foreign 
currency translation reserve of $993,000 and (iii) increasing the previously disclosed reverse acquisition 
reserve by $33,543,000. 

 

Restatement #2 – The Company grants stock options (see note 23) that vest over time. Under IFRS, 
when options vest over time, in the Company’s case, over three years, the share-based payment 
expense related to each year (‘tranche’) is required to be recognized over the corresponding vesting 
period (i.e., tranche one over one year, tranche two over two years, and tranche three over three 
years). In accounting for share-based payment expense, the Company erroneously recognised the 
share-based payment expense on a straight-line vesting method. Accordingly, this resulted in the share-
based payment expense being understated for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
The effect of the restatement on the consolidated statement of financial position of the Company as at 
December 31, 2017 was to (i) increase share-based payment reserve by $515,000; ii) increase 
accumulated losses by $499,000 and iii) decrease foreign currency translation reserve by $16,000. The 
effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 
2017 was to increase share-based payments by $499,000 and decrease other comprehensive income by 
$16,000.  

  

The errors described above have been corrected by restating each of the affected consolidated financial 

statement line items for prior periods. The following tables summarize the impacts on the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements. 

 
Restatement #3 – The Company excluded all shares in escrow in arriving the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year-ended December 31, 2017. Under IFRS, shares that are 
issuable solely after the passage of time are not contingently issuable shares, because the passage of 
time is a certainty and as such, are included in the calculation of the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares.  
 
The correction of the three adjustments noted above affects the loss per share for the year-ended 
December 31, 2017 and management restated the amount from 4.18 cents to 3.40 cents.   
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2. Basis of preparation and prior year adjustments (continued) 
2.1 Prior year adjustments (continued) 

 

The comparative financial information of the Company as at January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2017 

and for the year ended December 31, 2017 have been adjusted as follows:  

Consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2017 
         
 As previously 

reported 
 Restatement 

#1 
 Restatement 

#2 
 

As restated  
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

         
Issued capital and reserves 

attributable to owners of 
the Company 

 
 

      

Share capital 56,568  (34,536)    22,032  
Foreign currency translation 
reserve 

(978) 
 

993    15  

Share-based payment reserve 412      412  
Other reserve (33,543)  33,543    -  
Accumulated losses (17,055)      (17,055)  

         
 5,404      5,404  

Non-controlling interests 1,015      1,015  
         

TOTAL EQUITY 6,419      6,419  

 

 

Consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 
         
 As previously 

reported 
 Restatement 

#1 
 Restatement 

#2 
 

As restated  
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

         
Issued capital and reserves 

attributable to owners of 
the Company 

 
 

      

Share capital 63,739  (34,536)    29,203  
Foreign currency translation 
reserve 

(603) 
 

993  (16)  374  

Share-based payment reserve 1,009    515  1,524  
Other reserve (33,543)  33,543    -  
Accumulated losses (23,319)    (499)  (23,818)  

         
 7,283      7,283  

Non-controlling interests (121)      (121)  
         

TOTAL EQUITY 7,162      7,162  
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2. Basis of preparation and prior year adjustments (continued) 
2.1 Prior year adjustments (continued) 

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2017 
         
 As previously 

reported 
 Restatement 

#1 
 Restatement 

#2 
 

As restated  
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

         
Revenue 6,663      6,663  
Cost of sales (3,652)      (3,652)  

         
Gross profit 3,011      3,011  
         
Research and development 
expenses 

(1,625) 
 

    (1,625)  

Selling and distribution expenses (1,116)      (1,116)  
General and administrative 
expenses 

(8,534) 
 

  (499)  (9,033)  

         
Loss from operations (8,264)      (8,763)  
         
Other income 505      505  
Finance income 20      20  
Finance expense (55)      (55)  
Foreign currency exchange gain 45      45  

         
Loss before income tax (7,749)      (8,248)  
         
Income tax expense -      -  

         
Loss for the year (7,749)      (8,248)  

 

Restatement #3 - Loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2017 

 

 
  

As previously 
reported  As restated 

      

Loss per share   (4.18 cents)  (3.40 cents) 

      
As a result of the above restatements, there was no significant change on the cash flows used in operating 
activities, cash flows used in investing activities and cash flows generated from financing activities for the 
year ended December 31, 2017.  
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2.2 Statement of compliance and basis of presentation 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

 
These consolidated financial statements present the financial information of the Company and its 
subsidiary undertakings (together “the Group”). The principal activities of the Group are principally 
engaged in game software development, game operation, provision of outsourcing services, software 
license and software training.  

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
derivative financial instruments and FVTPL investments, which are measured at fair value. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by Board of Directors on April 30, 2019.  
 
This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes to significant accounting 
policies are described in note 3.  
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2. Basis of preparation and prior year adjustments (continued) 
2.3 Functional and presentation currency 

 
The functional currency of the Company is Canadian Dollars (“CAD”), the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates. The presentation currency of the consolidated financial 
statements is in United States Dollars (“$”).   

 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in $, rounded to the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise indicated. 

 
2.4 Going concern 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern 
basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 
 
The Company has experienced significant losses since completing its Qualifying Transaction on May 11, 
2016, has a working capital deficiency, and negative cash flows from operations. These circumstances 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the 
Company to continue as a going concern, and therefore, the Company may not be able to realise its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate profits and 
positive cash flows from operations from the launch of PC and mobile games under development, to obtain 
additional funding from financing arrangements, if and when needed by the Company and the continued 
support by its related parties. However, there can be no assurance that these activities will be successful. 
The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going 
concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these 
consolidated financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary to the carrying values and 
classification of assets and liabilities, and such adjustments could be material. 
 
 

3. Accounting policies 
3.1 Basis of consolidation 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries 
are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over an investee, when 
the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from the investee and when the Company has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the effective date of the acquisition up to the effective date of 
disposal or loss of control.  

 
De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In determining whether de-facto 
control exists the company considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including: 

 
- The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other parties who hold 

voting rights 
- Substantive potential voting rights held by the Company and by other parties 
- Other contractual arrangements 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

- Historic patterns in voting attendance 
 

The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries ("the Group") 
as if they formed a single entity. Intercompany transactions and balances between group companies are 
therefore eliminated in full. 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using the acquisition 
method. In the consolidated statement of financial position, the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.  The results of 
acquired operations are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date on 
which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases. 

 
3.2 Non-controlling interests 

 
Non-controlling interests in the Company’s less than wholly-owned subsidiaries are classified as a separate 
component of equity and represent the equity of a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 
owners of the Company.  

 
On initial recognition, non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquisition 
date fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary. Subsequent to the acquisition date, 
adjustments are made to the carrying amount of non-controlling interests for the non-controlling interests’ 
share of changes in equity. Adjustments to recognise the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in 
equity are made even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
recorded as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling interests 
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to 
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.  

 
3.3 Foreign currency translation 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars. The functional currency of 

the Company is Canadian Dollars. For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the 

assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 

rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions 

are used. Exchange differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

the foreign currency translation reserve, which is a separate component of shareholders’ equity. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the reporting entity using the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date the transactions took place. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at the reporting date of 
monetary assets and liabilities are reported in profit or loss. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 

3.4 Earnings per share 
 
Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. For calculations of diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding are adjusted to include the effects of dilutive stock options and warrants, whereby 
proceeds from the potential exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants with exercise prices that are 
below the average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in purchasing the 
Company’s common shares at their average market price for the period. Shares issued but held in escrow 
are included in the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares as outstanding from the 
period of the issuance with the exception of the performance escrow shares. The performance escrow 
shares are considered contingently returnable and are excluded from the calculation until such date as the 
shares are no longer subject to recall.  

 
3.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset into working condition for its intended purpose. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 
Depreciation, which commences on the date the asset is available for use and capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management, is provided over the estimated useful lives of assets using the straight-
line method, at the following rates per annum: 

 
Computer and office equipment 3 - 5 years 
Office furniture   5 - 7 years 
Leasehold improvements  2 - 10 years 

 
The assets' residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed annually, and adjusted if 
appropriate, prospectively. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is 
derecognised. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.6 Intangible assets 
 

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets with 
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are available for use. The 
following useful lives are applied: 

 
Acquired computer software  3 years 
Internally generated software  1 - 3 years 

 
Internally generated intangible assets are not amortised during the development stage. 

 
The assets' amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. 

 
Research and development costs 
Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly 
attributable to development activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the following 
recognition requirements: 

 
i. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for internal use or sale; 

ii. there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
iii. the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is demonstrated; 
iv. the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 
v. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for completion; and 

vi. the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably measured. 
 

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development activities along with an appropriate portion 
of relevant overheads. The costs of development of internally generated software, products or knowhow 
that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as intangible assets. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised development 
costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on 
a straight-line basis over its useful life. 

 
3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Intangible assets that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective 
of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other non-financial assets are tested for 
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market 
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of 
assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are 
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at the cash-generating unit level. 

 
Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited 
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other 
assets in the cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 
individual fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use, if determinable. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount, 
only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  

 
3.8 Financial instruments  

 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument. 

 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial 
liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 
Financial assets 
Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value, and in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
- amortised cost; 
- FVTPL; or 
- fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). 
 
The classification is determined by both: 
- the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and 
- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs or other income, except for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables which is 
presented within administrative expenses. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.8 Financial instruments (contimned) 
 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
Debt investments 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 

designated as FVTPL): 

- they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 

 contractual cash flows; and 

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in other income in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s trade and other receivables, excluding prepaid expenses, 
loan to a related company, short term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents fall into this category of 
financial instruments. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to 
collect and sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose 
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All 
derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements under IFRS 9 apply. The Group’s derivative 
financial instruments and FVTPL investments fall into this category of financial instrument. 
 
Policy applicable before January 1, 2018  
The Group’s accounting policies for financial assets are set out below. 

Financial assets are classified into the following category:  
- Available-for-sale financial assets  
- Loans and receivables 

 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition depending on the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

 
All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  Regular way purchases of financial assets are recognised on trade date. When 
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not 
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire 
or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. 

 
At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess whether there is objective evidence of 
impairment.  If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is determined and recognised based on the 
classification of the financial asset.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.8 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets  

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by 
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment 
losses. 

 
Where a decline in the fair value constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is 
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. 

 
For available-for-sale equity investment that is carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss is 
not reversed. 

 
Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate 
and transaction cost. The Group’s ‘trade and other receivables, excluding prepaid expenses, and cash and 
cash equivalents’ fall into this category of financial instrument. 

 
Financial liabilities 
Policy applicable for 2018 and 2017 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loan from related parties, derivative 
financial instruments and convertible debentures.  

 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except 
for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. 

 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit 
or loss are included within finance costs or fair value gain/loss on derivative financial instruments.  
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.8 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Convertible debentures 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible debentures that can be 
converted to share capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued varies with 
changes in the share price of the Company. 

 
Convertible debentures are accounted for as hybrid instruments consisting of embedded derivatives and a 
host debt contract. At initial recognition, the embedded derivatives of the convertible note are accounted 
for as derivative financial instruments and measured at fair value. Any excess of proceeds over the amount 
initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as a liability under the contract. Transaction 
costs that relate to the issue of the convertible note are allocated to the liability under the contract. 

 
The derivative component is subsequently carried at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised in 
profit or loss. The liability under the contract is subsequently carried at amortised cost calculated using the 
effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or maturity. 
 
When the convertible debenture is converted, the carrying amount of the liability under the contract 
together with the fair value of the relevant derivative component at the time of conversion are transferred 
to share capital as consideration for the shares issued. When the convertible note are redeemed, any 
difference between the redemption amount and the carrying amounts of both components are recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
 
3.9 Impairment of financial assets  

 
Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 
IFRS 9’s new impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit 
losses (“ECL” or the “ECL model”). 

 
The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including 
past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability 
of the future cash flows of the instrument.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 
- financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or 
 that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and 
 
- financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and 

whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”). 
 

 “Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 
 

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the Stage 2 
category. 

 
Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected 
life of the financial instrument. 

 
Trade receivables 

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual 
cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In 
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment. 

 
To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and 
the days past due.  

 
For trade receivables, the Group allows 0.5% for amounts that are neither past due nor impaired. There 
were no trade receivables past due during the year. 

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost 

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood 
or risk of default occurring since initial recognition. 

 
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring 
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both 
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly: 
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating; 
 
- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 

credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor; 
 
- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 

cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 
 
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and 
 
- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations. 

  
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end 
of each reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, 
the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group). 

 
Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 

At each reporting date, financial assets other than at FVTPL, are reviewed to determine whether there is 
any objective evidence of impairment. 

 
Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data that comes to the 
attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events: 

 
- Significant financial difficulty of the debtor; 
- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
- It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
- Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse 

effect on the debtor; and 
- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial assets. Such observable 
data includes but not limited to adverse changes in the payment status of debtors in the group and, national 
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group. 

 
If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is measured and recognised as follows: 

 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed 
at initial recognition).  The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the 
impairment occurs. 

 
If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date of 
impairment is reversed, does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised. 

 
Impairment losses on financial assets other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and trade 
receivables that are stated at amortised cost, are written off against the corresponding assets directly. 
Where the recovery of trade receivables is considered doubtful but not remote, the impairment losses for 
doubtful receivables are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery of 
trade receivables is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables 
directly and any amounts held in the allowance account in respect of that receivable are reversed. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the 
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
3.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term deposits that are 
redeemable or with original maturities of three months or less.  
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.11 Revenue recognition 

 
Policy applicable from January 1, 2018 

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process: 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer. 

2. Identifying the performance obligations. 

3. Determining the transaction price. 

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations. 

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

 

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance 

obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes 

any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

 
Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. 

 
Game operation 
PC online games 
The Group distributes locally installed PC online games through internet. With pre-paid game cards, players 
can credit their user accounts with virtual currencies to exchange for the virtual items. Third-party 
distribution channels and payment channels collect the payments from the paying players and remit the 
cash to the Group, net of discounts which are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of the 
agreements entered into between the Group and the third-party distribution or payment channels. As the 
Group acts as the principal in the transaction, revenue is recognised on a gross basis. 

 
Proceeds received from sales of pre-paid game cards to distributors are initially recorded as advances from 
customers. Upon activation or charge of the pre-paid game cards to virtual currencies, these advances from 
customers are immediately transferred to deferred revenue. Proceeds received from sales of virtual 
currencies to players are recorded as deferred revenue, as the Group has an implied obligation to provide 
the services which enable the virtual items exchanged with the virtual currencies to be displayed or used in 
the games. 

 
The attributable portion of the deferred revenue relating to values of the virtual items purchased is 
recognised as revenue only when the services are rendered to the respective paying players. For the 
purposes of determining when services have been provided to the respective paying players, the Group has 
determined the following: 

 
a) Consumable items represent virtual items that (i) may have a pre-determined service period; or (ii) can 

be consumed by a specific player action. Revenue is recognised (as a release from deferred revenue) 
rateably over the estimated life of the respective virtual items. The average estimated life of those 
consumable items consumed by a specific player action is estimated as the average period between 
the time an item is purchased and the time an item is completely consumed by player action. Based on 
the Group’s historical experience, the average estimated life of consumable items of PC online games 
consumed by a specific player action is 2 days for all periods presented. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.11 Revenue recognition (continued) 

 
b) Permanent ownership items represent virtual items that have no pre-determined service period and 

are accessible and beneficial to paying players over an extended period of time. Revenue is recognised 
rateably over the estimated average playing period of paying players which is the average period 
between the first date the paying players charge virtual currencies to their accounts and the last date 
these paying players play the game within a certain period of time. Based on the Group’s historical 
experience, the estimated playing period of paying users of PC online games was determined to be 331 
days for the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: 331 days). 

 
Virtual currencies will not expire as long as the personal game account remains active, i.e., being accessed 
or charged by the player. The unused virtual currencies in an inactive personal game account are recognised 
as revenues when the likelihood that the Group would provide further online game service with respect to 
such online points is remote. The Group recognises revenue related to unused virtual currencies under 
accounts of inactive players who are inactive for greater than 720 consecutive days. 

 
Mobile games 
The Group distributes mobile games through third-party distribution platforms. Third-party distribution 
platforms collect the payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group, net of channel 
commission charges which are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of the agreements entered 
into between the Group and the third-party distribution platforms. The Group has evaluated the roles and 
responsibilities of the Group and the third-party distribution or payment channels in the delivery of the 
game experience to the paying players and concluded that the Group takes the primary responsibilities in 
rendering the services. Management has determined that the Group is the primary obligor and, accordingly, 
the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and the commission charged by third-party distribution and 
payment channels is recorded as cost of sales. Currently, the Group does not operate mobile games for 
which the Group is not acting as the principal or primary obligor in these arrangements. 

 
Consistent with the Group's revenue recognition policies for PC online games, under the item-based revenue 
model, for the purposes of determining when the service has been provided to the end-users, the Group 
has determined that an implied obligation exists to the paying users to continue displaying the purchased 
virtual items within the game over the estimated useful lives of virtual items. However, due to system 
limitation on data collection of mobile games, the Group does not have the ability to differentiate the 
redemption respectively on consumable or permanent ownership items and track the consumption of each 
virtual item. Therefore, the Group recognises revenue from the sale of virtual currency and other virtual 
items rateably over the estimated average playing period of paying players. There were no revenue 
generated from mobile games for all periods presented. 

 
Licensing 
In licensing arrangements, the Group is entitled to receive a fixed and non-refundable initial fee which 
permits the licensee to exploit those licensing rights freely. As the Group has no remaining obligations to 
perform after delivery (i.e., at the time of sale), the initial fee is recognised as revenue at the time of sale. 

 
According to certain license agreements, the Group is also entitled to ongoing royalties based on the amount 
of money generated by the customers. The ongoing royalties are recognised when they are earned, provided 
that the collection is probable.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.11 Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

Outsourcing service 
The Group enters into contracts with other game developers to provide assistance to the development of 
their own game products. 

 
Revenue generated from outsourcing services associated with a transaction is recognised by reference to 
the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The outcome of a transaction 
can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

 
a) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 
c) the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; 

and 
d) the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured 

reliably. 
 

During the current period, revenue was only recognised to the extent of costs incurred, as whilst contracts 
are expected to be profitable, the stage of completion could not be reliably measured.   

 
Training 
Training fees are recognised as revenue over the period of instruction. 

 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
 
Policy applicable before January 1, 2018  
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for game operation, licensing 
of products, providing outsourcing services, providing training services and for the use by others of the 
Group's assets yielding interest. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised. There was no 
material impact on recognized revenue from the adoption of the new revenue standard (note 4).  

 
3.12 Leases 

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group 
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of 
time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation 
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. 

 
Classification of assets leased to the Group 
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases. 

 
Operating leases 
Where the Group has the right to use assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases 
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term except where an alternative 
basis is more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.13 Share-based payments 

The Group operates a stock option plan that enables Group’s directors, officers and technical consultants 
to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of share options granted is recognised as an employee or 
consultant expense with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an employee when 
the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides services similar to those 
performed by a direct employee.  

 
The fair value of options granted to recipients considered to be employees is measured at the grant date 
and the share-based compensation is expensed based on graded vesting. When the value of goods or 
services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value of 
the share options granted is measured using the Binomial model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the share purchase options were granted. Forfeiture rates are estimated in advance 
and are used in the estimate of the share-based expense for the reporting period. 

 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with non-employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received. However, if the fair values of the goods or services rendered cannot be estimated 
reliably, the share-based payment transaction is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted at the date the non-employee provides the goods or the services. 

 
At the time the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve 
will be transferred to retained earnings. After the vesting date, when the vested share options are later 
forfeited or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option 
reserve will be transferred to retained earnings. 

 
3.14 Employee benefits 

 

Retirement benefits 
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when 
the services are rendered by the employees. 

 
The employees of the subsidiary company which operates in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) are 
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. This 
subsidiary is required to contribute a fixed percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. 

 
The Group operates a provident fund, being a defined contribution plan. The assets of which are held in a 
separate trustee-administered fund. The provident fund is funded by payments from employees and by the 
relevant Group of companies. The Group’s contribution to provident fund are charged to the profit or loss 
in the period to which the contribution relate. 

 
Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees render services during the year. 
The subsidiary's obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
3.14 Employee benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefits 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting 
date. 

 
3.15 Taxation 

 
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax. 

 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated 
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the 
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of 
tax expense in profit or loss. 

 
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as 
other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable 
temporary differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 

 
Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the 
liability is settled, or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. 

 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. 

 
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off the amounts, and there is the intention either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 

 
3.16 Segment reporting 

 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors and the officer who make strategic 
decisions.
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3. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.17 Related parties 

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person: 
 

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; 
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or 
(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent. 

 
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply: 

 
(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others); 
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member); 
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; 
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity; 
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or 

an entity related to the Group; 
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and 
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the Company’s parent. 
  

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include: 

 
(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; 
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and  
(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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4. Applications of new or revised accounting policies 
 
Adoption of new or revised accounting policies - effective January 1, 2018 
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new or revised standards issued by the 
IASB, which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial statements for the annual period beginning on 
January 1, 2018: 
 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle  Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle  Amendments to IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures 
Amendments to IFRS 2  Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 

Transactions 
IFRS 9  Financial Instruments 
IFRS 15   Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
Amendments to IFRS 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to 

IFRS 15) 
IFRIC - Int 22  Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 
 
Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new and amended IFRSs had no material impact on how the results 
and financial position for the current and prior periods have been prepared and presented. 
 
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which replaced IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The comparative information has not been adjusted. IFRS 9 

introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments that 

are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (the 

business model test) and that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are 

generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test 

are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) if the objective of the entity’s 

business model is both to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities may 

make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at 

FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The 

Group has assessed that its financial assets currently measured at amortised cost and will continue with their 

respective classification and measurements upon the adoption of IFRS 9.  
 
With respect to the Group’s financial assets classified as “available-for-sale” previously, these were investments 
in equity investments, which the Group has determined to classify as FVTPL on transition to IFRS 9. 
  
At December 31, 2017, the Group held available-for-sale equity investments at cost, which approximated fair 
value, amounting to $1,521,000. At December 31, 2017, as there was no balance in the available-for-sale reserve, 
there was no IFRS 9 transition adjustment required as at January 1, 2018.  
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4. Applications of new or revised accounting policies (continued) 
 

The new impairment model in IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” 
model. Under the expected credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary for a loss event to occur before an 
impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required to recognise and measure either a 12-month ECL or 
a lifetime expected credit loss, depending on the asset and the facts and circumstances. There was no impairment 
adjustment required as at January 1, 2018 to reflect the new impairment requirements under IFRS 9. 
 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
Effective January 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 was adopted 
using the cumulative effect method, without practical expedients whereby the cumulative effect of the change 
determined by applying the principles and practices in IFRS 15 for contracts that are incomplete on the date of 
adoption, if any, is recognized in retained earnings at January 1, 2018. There was no cumulative effect adjustment 
required to be recognized at January 1, 2018 to recognize the impact of applying the new revenue standard. There 
was also no material impact on recognized revenue in the year ended December 31, 2018 from the adoption of the 
new revenue standard. The comparative information has not been adjusted. 
 
New or revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised IFRSs, potentially relevant to 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the date they become effective. 

 

IFRS 16  Leases1 
IFRS 17  Insurance Contract3 
Amendments to IFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative  

    Compensation1 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture4 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8  Definition of Material2 
Amendments to IAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement1 
Amendments to IAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint 

    Ventures1 
Amendments to IFRS 3  Definition of a Business2 
IFRIC - Int 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments1 
   
1  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 
2  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020 
3  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021 
4  Effective date not yet determined 

The Group anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first 
period beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new and amended IFRSs 
that are expected to have impact on the Group’s accounting policies is provided below.  Other new and amended 
IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 
IFRS 16, which will supersede IAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, introduces a single lessee accounting model 
and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under IFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset  
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4. Applications of new or revised accounting policies (continued) 
 
representing its right-to-use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease 
liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and 
presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially measured 
on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to 
be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to 
exercise an option to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different from the lessee 
accounting for leases that are classified as operating leases under the predecessor standard, IAS 17.In respect of the 
lessor accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. 
 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two 
types of leases differently. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Group has total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease 
of $1,277 thousand as disclosed in note 26. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet 
the definition of a lease under IFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
lease liability in respect of all the leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of 
IFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirement may result changes in measurement, presentation and 
disclosure as indicated above. 
 

5. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The Group’s management makes judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. In addition, the preparation of the financial data requires 
that the Group’s management makes assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and reported results during the reporting period. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates as the estimation process is inherently uncertain. Estimates are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates and the resulting impact on the 
carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and liabilities are accounted for prospectively. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
Estimated life of consumable virtual items 
Management makes a best estimate regarding the life of consumable virtual items based on the consumption 
history and pattern of virtual items. Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation on an annual basis.  
 
Estimated average playing period of paying players 
The determination of estimated average playing period of paying players is based on the Group’s best estimate 
that takes into account all known and relevant information relating to the first date the paying players charge 
virtual currencies to their accounts and the last date these paying players would play the game at the time of 
assessment. Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation on an annual basis. 
 
Estimated inactive players 
Management determines that accounts of players without log-in for more than 720 consecutive days are inactive 
and the unused virtual currencies and virtual items of these accounts are recognised as revenue. 
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5. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
  
Research and development costs 
Careful judgement is applied when deciding whether the capitalisation recognition requirements for 
development costs have been met. This is necessary as the economic success of any product development is 
uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on 
the best information available at each reporting date. In addition, all internal activities related to the research 
and development of new software, products or know how are continuously monitored by the Group's 
management. 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
Management assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may 
lead to an impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Value in use calculations 
performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions about 
future events, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In making 
these key estimates and judgements, management takes into consideration assumptions that are mainly based 
on market conditions existing at the reporting dates and appropriate market and discount rates. These estimates 
are regularly compared to actual market data and actual transactions entered into by the Group. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated or amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the estimated residual 
value, if any. Management reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the 
amount of depreciation and amortisation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives 
are based on management’s historical experience with similar assets, taking into account anticipated 
technological changes. The depreciation and amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are 
significant changes from previous estimates. 
 

Derivative financial instruments: 
The Company reflects the fair value of derivative financial instruments based on third party valuation models and 
methodologies that utilize observable market data. As a result of changes in key assumptions, the actual amounts 
may vary significantly from estimated amounts. 
 
Share-based payments 
Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determination of the most appropriate 
valuation model, which depends on the terms and conditions of the grant. In estimating the fair value of share-
based payment, it requires determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the share option or appreciation right, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are 
disclosed in note 22. 
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6. Revenue  
      2018  2017 
      $’000  $’000 
         
Outsourcing      6,547  3,398 
Licensing      101  487 
Game operation      2,095  2,444 
Training      172  334 

         
      8,915  6,663 

 
7. Segment information 

 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that is engaged in business activities from which the Group 
may earn revenue and incur expenses, and is defined on the basis of the internal management reporting 
information that is provided to and regularly reviewed by the executive directors in order to allocate resources 
and assess performance of the segment. During the year, executive directors regularly review revenue and 
operating results derived from outsourcing, licensing, game operation and training consider as one single 
operating segment.  
 
The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-currents assets by geographical 
location are detailed below.  
 
      2018  2017 
      $’000  $’000 
         
By country/region         
Canada (Place of domicile) 
China 

     - 
8,083 

 - 
5,025 

Rest of the world      832  1,638 

         
Total revenue      8,915  6,663 
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7. Segment information (continued) 
 
      2018  2017 
      $’000  $’000 
         
By country/region         
Canada (Place of domicile)      345  314 

China      10,015  7,352 
Rest of the world      3,224  2,560 

         
Non-current assets      13,584  10,226 

 
8. Expenses by nature 

 
   2018  2017 
   $’000  $’000 
     (Restated) 
      
Amortisation of intangible assets^   13  54 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*   208  98 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets   -  86 
      
Research and development, excluding employee benefit 
expenses: 

     

- Capitalised (note 13)   3,940  3,100 
- Expensed   1,451  1,625 

      
   5,391  4,725 
      
Employee benefits expenses (note 9)   13,228  11,664 
Operating lease expense – land and buildings   953  910 
Write off of trade receivables    11  266 
Reversal of bad debt written-off    (394)  - 
Provision for impairment of other investments   -  387 

 

^ Amortisation expenses of $2,000 (2017: $32,000), $3,000 (2017: $5,000), $8,000 (2017: $10,000) and nil 

(2017: $7,000) have been included in cost of sales, research and development expenses, general and 

administrative expenses and capitalisation of intangible assets respectively.   

 

* Depreciation expenses of $18,000 (2017: $29,000), $9,000 (2017: $7,000), $181,000 (2017: $53,000) and nil 

(2017: $9,000) have been included in cost of sales, research and development expenses, general and 

administrative expenses and capitalisation of intangible assets respectively.   
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9. Employee benefits expenses 
   2018  2017 
  $’000  $’000 
    (Restated) 
Employee benefits expenses (including directors) comprise:     
     
Wages and salaries  10,487  8,796 
Social welfare costs  2,148  1,554 
Share-based payment expenses  455  1,222 
Other benefits  138  92 

     
  13,228  11,664 

 
Employee benefits expenses of $3,068,000 (2017: $3,453,000), $1,267,000 (2017: $1,550,000), $444,000 (2017: 
$650,000), $5,350,000 (2017: $3,464,000) and $3,099,000 (2017: $2,547,000) have been included in cost of sales, 
research and development expenses, selling expenses, general and administrative expenses and capitalisation of 
intangible assets respectively. 
 
Key management personnel compensation 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group, including the directors of the Company listed on page 1, and the officer of 
the Company. 
 
   2018  2017 
  $’000  $’000 
    (Restated) 
     
Wages and salaries  755  604 
Social welfare costs  2  1 
Share-based payment expenses  622  1,085 

     
  1,379  1,690 

 
10. Finance income and expense 

   2018  2017 
   $’000  $’000 
      
Finance income      
      
Interest received on bank deposits   19  20 

      
Finance expense      
      
Interest expenses on borrowing    (5)  (55) 
Interest expenses on convertible debentures    (445)  - 

Interest expenses on borrowing    (450)  (55) 

      
Net finance expense recognised in profit or loss   (431)  (35) 
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11. Income tax expenses 

 
The tax charge on loss comprises: 
   2018  2017 
  $’000  $’000 
      

    
     
Current tax   2  - 
Deferred income tax  22  - 

     
Income tax expense  24  - 

 
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income tax expense in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income as follows: 
 

  2018  2017 
  $’000  $’000 
    (Restated) 
     

Loss before income tax   (9,296)  (8,248) 
Canadian statutory tax rate  27%  26% 

     

Tax on loss before income tax expense 
  

(2,510) 
  

(2,144) 
     
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses  9  1,802 
Tax effect of non-taxable income  -  (853) 
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised  1,923  1,226 
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised  (447)  (205) 
Impact of tax rate differences in other jurisdictions  1,049  174 
     

Income tax expense   24  - 

 
Taxation on profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation 
prevailing in the countries in which the Group’s entities operate.  
 
Canada income tax 
The parent entity, Axion Ventures Inc. had no taxable income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
and thus there is no resulting tax provision for current income taxes.  
 
Hong Kong Profits Tax  
The Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is 16.5% (2017: 16.5%).  Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided, as the 
relevant subsidiaries had no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong for the years ended December 31, 2018 
and 2017.  
 
The PRC enterprise income tax 
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC enterprise 
income tax of 25% (2017: 25%).  
 



Axion Ventures Inc. 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

 

43 

 
11. Income tax expenses (continued) 

 
According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises engaging in research and development 
activities are entitled to claim 150% of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax-deductible 
expenses when determining their assessable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”).   
 
Thailand income tax  
A Thai company generally pays tax at 20% of net profit. However, small business, paid-up capital less than 5 
million Baht, is entitled to a rate reduction. If the subsidiary has net profit more than 1 million Baht, the corporate 
income tax is 20%. If the subsidiary has a net profit of 300 thousand Baht and 1 million Baht, the corporate income 
tax is 15%. Exempt for the incorporate income tax if net profit less than 300 thousand Baht. 
 
Tax losses carried forward 
The Company had the following unutilised tax losses carried forward at the reporting date: 
 
  2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000 
   (Restated) 
Unutilised tax losses  13,451  8,677 

 
The unutilised tax losses have expiry dates of between 1 – 20 years. 
 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised, because management considers it is not probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the Group’s entities can utilise the benefits therefrom. 
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12. Loss per share 

 
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data: 
 

   2018  2017 
   $’000  $’000 
     (Restated) 
Numerator      
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company used 

in basic and diluted loss per share 
    

(9,136) 
  

(6,889) 

      
   Number of shares 
   2018  2017 
Denominator  

 ‘000 
 ‘000 

(Restated) 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for the 

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 
  

 
204,328  203,084 

 
Shares held in the performance escrow (note 20) are not included in the calculation of loss per share, as they are 
recallable. 
 
The Company has a number of share options and warrants in issue which have not been included in the diluted 
loss per share calculation, due to their anti-dilutive effect.  
 
For the years ended December 2018 and 2017, the diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share 
as the assumed utilisation of the share option and warrants would have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss 
per share.
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13. Intangible assets 

 
 

Acquired 
computer 
software  

Internally 
generated 
computer 
software  Total 

 $’000  $’000  $’000 
At January 1, 2017      
Cost 317  8,020  8,337 
Accumulated amortisation (185)  (3,522)  (3,707) 

      
Carrying amount 132  4,498  4,630 
      
Year ended December 31, 2017      
Opening carrying amount 132  4,498  4,630 
Exchange differences 10  -  10 
Additions 65  3,100  3,165 
Amortisation (54)  -  (54) 
Disposal (86)  -  (86) 

      
 67  7,598  7,665 

      
At December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2018      
Cost 256  11,120  11,376 
Accumulated depreciation (189)  (3,522)  (3,711) 

      

Carrying amount  67  7,598  7,665 

      
Year ended December 31, 2018      

Opening carrying amount 67  7,598  7,665 

Exchange differences 2  (3)  (1) 
Additions 934  3,940  4,874 
Amortisation (13)  -  (13) 
Disposal -  -   

      
 990  11,535  12,525 

      
At December 31, 2018      
Cost 1,193  15,057  16,250 
Accumulated amortisation (203)  (3,522)  (3,725) 

      
Carrying amount 990  11,535  12,525 
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14. Property, plant and equipment  

 
  Computer 

and office 
equipment  

Office 
furniture  

Leasehold 
improvements  Total 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
At January 1, 2017         
Cost  215  44  15  274 
Accumulated depreciation  (130)  (25)  (8)  (163) 

Net book amount   85  19  7  111  
        

Year ended December 31, 2017         
Opening net book amount  85  19  7  111 
Additions  219  164  322  705 
Depreciation  (65)  (16)  (17)  (98) 
Exchange difference  8  6  11  25 

Closing net book amount  247  173  323  743 
         
At December 31, 2017 and January 1, 

2018 
        

Cost  355  210  349  914 
Accumulated depreciation  (108)  (37)  (26)  (171) 

Net book amount   247  173  323  743 

         
         
Year ended December 31, 2018         
Opening net book amount  247  173  323  743 
Additions  238  8  2  248 
Depreciation  (111)  (28)  (69)  (208) 
Disposal  (8)  (7)  -  (15) 
Exchange difference  (1)  10  3  12 

Closing net book amount  365  156  259  780 
         
At December 31, 2018         
Cost  515  207  338  1,060 
Accumulated depreciation  (150)  (51)  (79)  (280) 

Net book amount   365  156  259  780 
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15. Other investments  

 

The effect of initially applying IFRS 9 in the Company’s financial instruments is described in note 4. 

Due to the transition method chosen in applying IFRS 9, comparative information has not been 

restated to reflect the new requirements.  

   2018  2017 
   $’000  $’000 
      

FVTPL investments:      

Innovega Inc. 
Red Anchor Trading Corp. 

  - 
- 

 - 
- 

 
Available-for-sale investments: 

     

Innovega Inc.    -  - 
Red Anchor Trading Corp.    -  1,521 

      
   -  1,521 

 
Investment in Innovega  
Innovega’s Note (the “Note”) was converted on October 19, 2016, the Maturity Date, based upon the “Automatic 
Conversion upon Maturity” calculation terms of the Note. As at December 31, 2018, the Company holds 
approximately 6.1% (2017: 9.9%) of Innovega's issued and outstanding preference shares and approximately 1.4% 
(2017: 1.9%) of Innovega's total issued and outstanding shares and granted options (fully diluted basis). The fair 
value of the investment determined by management was nil as at December 31, 2018 (2017 – nil). 
 

Investment in Red Anchor Trading Corporation. 
On October 26, 2016, the Company entered into an investment agreement with Red Anchor Trading Corp. (“Red 
Anchor”), a company engaged in the business of developing an application known as “HotNow”, which is a 
marketing automation platform for retailers to offer various promotions. In consideration for the $1.5 million 
investment, Red Anchor issued 9,375 ordinary shares of Red Anchor to the Company at $160 per share, 
representing 15% of the post-closing issued and outstanding voting shares of Red Anchor on a fully-diluted basis.   
During 2018, the Company wrote down its investment in Red Anchor Trading Corporation to nil and recognized a 
fair value loss on FVTPL investments in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).
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16. Trade and other receivables 

 
 

 
December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
Trade receivables  1,457  619 
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables  (11)  - 

     
Trade receivables - net  1,446  619 
     
Deposits  254  263 
Prepaid expenses  210  242 
Other receivables  284  140 
Advances to employees  22  23 

     
Total trade and other receivables  2,216  1,287 

 
Management considers that the fair values of trade and other receivables are not materially different from their 
carrying amounts because these balances have short maturity periods at inception.  

 
Note: 
Loan to a related party represented a loan advanced to Red Anchor (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a limited company 
organised and existing under Thai law in Thailand. The balance due is unsecured, interest-bearing at 6% per 
annum and repayable in year 2020. 
 
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables from third parties that were past due as at reporting date 
but not impaired, based on due date, is as follows: 

 
 

 
December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
0 – 90 days  -  76 
91 – 180 days  -  13 
181 – 360 days  -  - 
361 – 540 days  -  32 
Over 540 days  -  - 

     
  -  121 
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16. Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
The Company does not hold any collateral in respect of trade receivables past due but not impaired.  
 

17. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
  

December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
Cash at banks  2,602  3,639 
Short-term bank deposits  87  60 

     
  2,689  3,699 

 
Management considered that the fair value of the short-term bank deposits was not materially different from 
their carrying amount because of the short maturity period at inception.  
 

18. Trade and other payables 
 

 
December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
Trade payables  292  451 
Accrued salaries and benefits  1,788  1,638 
Other tax liabilities  309  813 
Advance from customers  -  1,203 
Accrued expenses  617  227 
Other payables  889  325 

     
  3,895  4,657 

 
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the Company’s trade and other payables are 
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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19. Convertible debentures 
 

 
 

December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
Convertible debenture 1 (“CB 1”) maturing on March 2, 2020  820  - 
Convertible debenture 2 (“CB 2”) maturing on July 19, 2020  2,241  - 

     
  3,061  - 

 
CB 1 
On March 2, 2018, the Company issued CB 1 with principal amount of $909 thousand to fund its strategic 
expansion, research and development costs and working capital. CB 1 is convertible into common shares (each, 
a “Share”) of the Company at a conversion price of CAD0.93 per Share.  CB 1 matures on March 2, 2020 and bear 
interest (the “Interest”) at the rate of 15% per annum, payable semi-annually in shares with the number of shares 
determined at the market price (as defined in the policies of the TSXV) on the applicable interest payment date, 
unless the holder elects not to convert the Interest into shares in which case the interest shall be calculated at a 
rate of 8% per annum and paid in cash.  Any accrued and unpaid Interest on any principal amount being 
converted, will be convertible into shares at the market price. 
 
CB 2 
On July 19, 2018, the Company has issued CB 2 with principal amount of $3 million to fund its strategic expansion, 
research and development costs and working capital. CB 2 is convertible into common shares (each, a “Share”) 
of the Company at a conversion price of CAD0.90 per Share.  CB 2 matures on July 19, 2020 and bear interest (the 
“Interest”) at the rate of 8% per annum and shall be paid in cash.   
 
At any time after the date which is one year after the issue date, the then outstanding principal amount may be 
prepaid in whole or in part upon payment from the Company to the holder of an amount equal to 130% of the 
then outstanding principal (which amount includes payment of any accrued and unpaid Interest).  The holder has 
the option to exercise the holder’s rights of conversion for a period of 30 days after receipt of notice from the 
Company regarding prepayment. In addition, instead of converting into Shares of the Company, the holder can 
elect to convert principal into shares of one of the Company’s non-gaming portfolio assets at the lessor of (i) 
130% the most recent price per portfolio company share paid by the Company or (ii) the effective price per 
portfolio company share based on the pre-money valuation of the portfolio company in the most recent arm’s 
length financing prior to such conversion. 
 

On initial recognition, embedded derivatives options are separated from its host contract on the basis of the 

stated terms of the option feature. The initial carrying amount of the host instrument is the residual amount after 

separating the embedded derivative. 

 
The liability components are classified as non-current liabilities and carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The derivative components are measured at fair value using the [Monte Carlo Simulation Model] 
method. The fair value changes were recognised in profit or loss. 
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19. Convertible debentures (continued) 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Management considers the convertible debentures as hybrid instruments with a debt host contract and 
embedded derivatives options. The Issuer’s Call Option, the Holders’ Conversion and Put Option are considered 
by management not to be directly linked to the risk and economic characteristic of the debt host contract and 
therefore are classified as derivatives financial instruments in current assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
 

 
 

December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
     
Liability component     
Balance at inception  2,940  - 
Issuing costs  (210)  - 
Accrued effective interest charges  445  - 
Interest paid  (114)  - 

     
Balance at the end of the year  3,061  - 

     
Fair value of embedded derivative component in respect of the call option 
- financial assets   

 
 

Fair value at inception  79  - 
Changes in fair value  50  - 

     
Balance at the end of the year  129  - 

     
Fair value of embedded derivative component in respect of the conversion 
and put option -  financial liabilities   

 
 

Fair value at inception  1,048  - 
Changes in fair value  (410)  - 

     
Balance at the end of the year  638  - 

 
The key inputs used for the calculation of the fair value of the embedded derivative components of convertible 
note are as follows: 

  CB 1  CB 2 
     
Time to maturity  1.17 years  1.55 years 
Share price  $0.737  $0.676 
$/CAD exchange rate  1.2891  1.3166 
Conversion price  $0.721  $0.684 
Spread  25.52%  24.55% 
Expected share price volatility  54.56%  57.43% 
Risk-free rate  1.77%  1.93% 
Discount rate  39%  15% 
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19. Convertible debentures (continued) 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the fair value of the liability component above is approximately $3,266,019 (2017: nil). 
The fair values of the liability component and embedded derivative components above are based on a valuation 
performed by an independent professional valuer using discounted cash flow method and Monte Carlo 
Simulation Model, respectively, and are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Details of the fair 
value measurements of the embedded derivative components are set out in note 29.     
 

20. Share capital 

 
 Number    
 of shares  Amount  

   $’000  
At January 1, 2017 as restated 216,972,450  22,032  
     
Issue of share capital – True private placement (note i) 20,000,000  7,634  
Issue of share capital – exercise of warrants (note ii) 20,000  2  
Issue of share capital – exercise of warrants (note iii) 130,000  20  

     
 237,122,450  29,688  

Less: Issuance cost -  (485)  

     

At December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2018 as restated 237,122,450  29,203  
     
Issue of share capital – exercise of share options (note iv) 100,000  31  
Issue of share capital – exercise of warrants (note v) 1,000,000  273  
Issue of share capital – exercise of share options (note vi) 1,000,000  536  
Issue of share capital – payment in kind interest (note vii) 169,791  114  
     

     
At December 31, 2018 239,392,241  30,157  

 
Authorised share capital 
At December 31, 2018, the authorised share capital consisted of an unlimited number of common shares without 
par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value.   
 
Issued and outstanding 
 
(i) On January 18, 2017, the Company issued 20,000,000 common shares under private placement. 
 
(ii) On April 3, 2017, the Company issued 20,000 common shares on the exercise of warrants. 
 
(iii) On May 11, 2017, the Company issued 130,000 common shares on the exercise of warrants. 
 
(iv) On April 3, 2018, the Company issued 100,000 common shares on the exercise of share options from an 

ex-director. 
 
(v) On May 11, 2018, the Company issued 1,000,000 common shares on the exercise of warrants. 
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20. Share capital (continued) 

 

(vi) On November 29, 2018, the Company issued 1,000,000 common shares on the exercise of share options 
from an officer. 

(vii) On June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018, the Company issued 169,791 common shares as payment in 
kind interest to a convertible debenture’s holder. 

 
At December 31, 2018, there were  239,392,241 common shares of the Company issued and outstanding.  Of this 
amount, 33,000,000 (out of 239,392,241 as of December 31, 2018) common shares were issued but subject to 
future release under escrow agreements as of December 31, 2020, as described below. 
  

Escrow Shares 

TSXV CPC Escrow: Prior to completion of the QT, the Company had 1,415,000 shares held pursuant to a TSXV CPC 

escrow agreement. Pursuant to the CPC escrow agreement, 25% were releasable at the QT TSXV final exchange 

bulletin on May 17, 2016, 25% 6 months from TSXV bulletin, 25% 12 months from TSXV bulletin and 25% 18 

months from Exchange bulletin.  

TSXV Surplus Escrow: Pursuant to the QT, 53,684,753 of the 150,168,692 common shares of the Company issued 

to shareholders of Axion, AEH and AEIH were deposited directly into TSXV Surplus escrow. Pursuant to the Surplus 

escrow agreement, 10% were releasable at the QT TSXV final exchange bulletin (released), 20% 6 months from 

TSXV bulletin (released), 30% 12 months from TSXV bulletin and 40% 18 months from Exchange bulletin. 

TSXV Value Escrow: Pursuant to the QT, 41,634,797 of the 150,168,692 common shares of the Company issued 

to shareholders of Axion, AEH and AEIH were deposited directly into TSXV Value escrow. Pursuant to the Value 

escrow agreement, 25% were releasable at the QT TSXV final exchange bulletin (released), 25% 6 months from 

TSXV bulletin (released), 25% 12 months from TSXV bulletin and 25% 18 months from Exchange bulletin. 

Performance Escrow: Pursuant to the QT, 33,000,000 of the 150,168,692 common shares of the Company issued 

to shareholders of Axion, AEH and AEIH were held pursuant to a performance escrow agreement subject to the 

following performance targets being attained by Axion Games within three years:  

A. Axion Games generating EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) in 
excess of US$6,000,000 in any audited fiscal year ending 31 December 2016, 2017 or 2018; or 

B. Axion Games generating game pre-sales in excess of US$10,000,000 in any audited fiscal year ending 31 
December 2016, 2017 or 2018.  

The performance escrow shares do not carry voting rights until released from escrow and none of the 

performance escrowed shares have been released from escrow as of the date hereof. In addition, 29,909,520 of 

33,000,000 shares are also held pursuant to either TSXV Surplus or TSXV Value escrow. Therefore, if the 

performance targets are met and the shares released, 29,909,520 shall be deposited into the applicable TSXV 

escrow with the Company’s transfer agent and released accordingly. 

Voluntary Pooling/Escrow: All 33,581,358 common shares of the Company issued to shareholders as part of the 

share exchanges dated August 23, 2016 are subject to voluntary escrow/pooling agreements. Pursuant to the 

escrow/pooling agreements, 23,448,169 of the 33,581,358 Axion Ventures shares were released as follows: 25%  
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20. Share capital (continued) 

on closing; and 25% released 6, 12, and 18 months thereafter. The other 10,133,189 of the 33,581,358 Axion 

Ventures shares will be released in one tranche on February 23, 2018. 

On April 29, 2019, the performance escrow deadline was extended to include audited fiscal years 

ending 31 December 2019 and 2020. 

As a result of the foregoing, the remaining escrow shares were not released as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 
as follows: 

  

  December 31, 
2018 

December 31, 
2017 

Shares held subject to performance escrow agreement              33,000,000 33,000,000 

Shares held subject to pooling agreement - 5,862,043 

  33,000,000 38,862,043 

 
21. Reserves 

 

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity: 

 
(a) Foreign currency translation reserve 

This reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses on the translation of the Group's net investment in 
its foreign operations. 
 

(b) Share-based payment reserve 
This reserve represents the cumulative share-based payment expense for issued share-options that are 
unvested or unexercised at the reporting date. 
 

(c) Accumulated losses 
This reserve represents the cumulative profits and losses and gains and losses recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, together with any transfers from other reserve. 
 

22. Share-based payment transactions 

 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, officers and technical consultants under which 
the Company may grant options from time to time to acquire a maximum number of common shares being 10% 
of the total number of issued common shares of the Company (calculated on a non-diluted basis) at the time an 
option is granted. The number of optioned shares granted under the plan cannot exceed the number of plan 
shares.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan shall be determined by the board of directors.  
Options may be granted for a maximum term of ten years from the date of the grant, are non-transferable, and 
expire within 90 days of termination of employment or holding office as director or officers of the Company and, 
in the case of death, expire within one year thereafter. Upon death, the options may be exercised by legal 
representation or designated beneficiaries of the holder of the option. Unless otherwise stated, the options fully 
vested when granted.
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22. Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

 

Axion Games has two share option schemes which were adopted on August 1, 2006 and August 1, 2011 whereby 
the directors of Axion Games are authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including 
directors of any company in the Group, to take up options at certain consideration to subscribe for shares of 
Axion Games.  Both share option schemes shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from 
the date of adoption. 
 
The Option shall vest 

 in the event that Axion Games is listed on any major stock exchange (the “IPO”) within five years of the date 
of grant, the option shall vest in installments. The first installment shall vest on the date 6 months after the 
IPO (“Date of First Vesting”) and shall comprise a portion of the option calculated as follows: The total 
number of full year(s) of grantees service with the Group from the date of grant to the Date of First Vesting 
rounded down to the nearest integer divided by 5 and multiplied by the option shares. Thereafter, further 
vesting shall fall on the following anniversary of date of grant after the Date of First Vesting and each 
installment shall comprise 20% of the option shares until all option shares are vested by the end of the fifth 
anniversary of the date of grant; or 

 

 in the event that Axion Games is not listed on any major stock exchange during the first five years upon the 
Date of Grant, the option shall entirely (100%) vest on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. 

 

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in Axion Games. 
 

Company stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarised as follows: 
 
 

Number  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
CAD 

    
At January 1, 2017 as restated 17,122,678  0.36 
Lapsed (680,000)  0.49 

    
At December 31, 2017 16,442,678  0.49 
    
Granted 3,425,000  0.91 
Lapsed/Forfeited (1,140,000)  0.60 
Exercised (1,100,000)  0.48 
    

    
At December 31, 2018 17,627,678  0.59 

    
Exercisable at December 31, 2018 10,048,679  0.51 

    
Exercisable at December 31, 2017 7,111,011  0.57 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, 1,140,000 (2017: 680,000) share options were lapsed/forfeited as a 
result of the termination of employment with grantees. In addition, an amortisation of share option over the 
vesting period of $866,000 (2017 restated: $1,222,000) was recognised in the profit or loss. 
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22. Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

 
The share options outstanding at the end of the year had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4 years 
(2017: 4 years).   
 
Fair value of share options granted during the year ended December 31, 2018 
The fair value of the share options granted is approximately $1,396,973 in aggregate, was calculated as of the 
date of grant using the Binominal model, using the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

 
May 14, 2018 

 
May 28, 2018 

 
June 25, 2018 

Exercise price CAD0.89 CAD0.90 CAD0.90 
Expected volatility 61.14% 61.55% 61.33% 
Expected life of option 5 years 5 years 5 years 
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 
Risk-free rate 2.21% 2.15% 1.95% 

 
 

July 10, 2018 

 
September 

19, 2018 

 
October 25, 

2018 

Exercise price CAD0.90 CAD0.90 CAD0.98 
Expected volatility 82.95% 74.66% 63.55% 
Expected life of option 5 years 5 years 5 years 
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 
Risk-free rate 1.76% 2.31% 2.39% 

 
At December 31, 2018, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding stock options of the 
Company was from 1 - 4 years. Expected volatility was determined based on comparable publicly listed 
companies.  
 
Share purchase warrants 
Share purchase warrant transactions are summarised as follows: 
 

Number of 
Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
CAD 

    
Balance at January 1, 2017 1,150,000  0.24 
Exercised (150,000)  0.20 

    
Balance and exercisable at December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2018 1,000,000  0.25 
    
Exercised (1,000,000)  0.25 

    
Balance and exercisable at December 31, 2018 -  N/A 
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22. Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

 
Agent’s warrants 
On April 3, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 20,000 shares as a result of the partial exercise of 
outstanding financing agent’s warrants issued at the closing of the QT.   
 
On May 11, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 130,000 shares as a result of the remaining exercise of 
outstanding financing agent’s warrants issued at the closing of the QT.   

 
Finder’s warrants 
On May 11, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares as a result of the remaining exercise of 
outstanding financing finder’s warrants issued at the closing of the QT. 
 

23. Investments in subsidiaries 

 
 
 
 
 
Name 

 
 
 

Place of 
incorporation 

 
 

 
Place of  
operations 

Percentage of 
nominal value of 
issued and paid up 
capital held by the 
Company 

 
 
 
 
Principal activities 

   Directly Indirectly  
      
Axia Hong Kong Hong Kong - 100 Investment holding 
      
Axia Corporation (Thailand) 

Co., Ltd.  
Thailand Thailand  70 Development of digital 

insurance products 
      
Axia Technologies Pte Ltd.  Singapore Singapore - 70 Development of digital 

insurance products 
      
AEIH British Virgin 

Islands (the 
“BVI”) 

The PRC 65 - Investment holding 

      
AEH The BVI The PRC 54 - Investment holding 
      
Axion Interactive Inc.  The BVI Thailand 100 - Investment holding 
      
Axion Ventures (BKK) Co., Ltd. 

** 
Thailand Thailand 50 49 Investment holding 

      
Axion Interactive 

Entertainment (Chengdu) 
Co., Ltd. ** 

The PRC The PRC - 100 Provision of consulting 
services 

      
Axion Interactive 

Entertainment (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd. ** 

The PRC The PRC - 100 Provision of consulting 
services 
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23. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 

 
 
 
 
 
Name 

 
 
 

Place of 
incorporation 

 
 

 
Place of  
operations 

Percentage of 
nominal value of 
issued and paid up 
capital held by the 
Company 

 
 
 
 
Principal activities 

   Directly Indirectly  
      
      
True Axion Interactive Ltd. 

(“TAI”)  
Thailand Thailand - 49 Provision of game 

development and 
training classes of 
game design 

      
Longroot Limited ** Cayman Islands Thailand - 60 Investment holding 
      
Axion Intelligence Ltd. ** The BVI Thailand - 60 Provision of fintech 

consulting services 
      
Longroot (Thailand) Ltd. ** Thailand Thailand - 60 Provision of fintech 

consulting services 
      
Tracejory Games Ltd. ** Cayman Islands Russia - 50 Investment holding 
      
Tracejory Games Ru Ltd. ** Russia Russia - 50 Provision of game 

development 
      
Axion Games Cayman Islands The PRC 29      25 Investment holding 
      
Digital Arts Academy 

International Group Ltd. 
The BVI The PRC - 38 Investment holding 

      
EGC Holdings Ltd. The BVI The PRC - 54 Investment holding 
      
Mega Marble International 

Limited 
 

The BVI The PRC - 54 Provision of game 
development, game 
design and licensing of 
published games and 
software 

      
Mocool Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong - 54 Provision of licensing 

services 
      
Shanghai Ying Pei Digital 

Technology  Co., Ltd.  
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of game 

development 
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23. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 

 

 
 
 
 
Name 

 
 
 

Place of 
incorporation 

 
 

 
Place of  
operations 

Percentage of 
nominal value of 
issued and paid up 
capital held by the 
Company 

 
 
 
 
Principal activities 

   Directly Indirectly  
      
      
Shanghai Ying Pei Software  

Co., Ltd. (“YP”) * 
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of licensing of 

published games and 
software 

      
Shanghai Zhenyou Network 

Technology Limited * 
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of game 

operation 
      
Taozhi Digital Technology 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of training 

classes of game design 
      
Ying Pei Digital Technology 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of game 

development, game 
design and licensing of 
published games and 
software 

      
Ying Pei Digital Technology 

(Suzhou) Co., Ltd. 
The PRC The PRC - 54 Provision of game 

development 

 
** Newly established or incorporated subsidiaries 
* These interests represent contractual, rather than equity interests, in structured entities, over which 

management have determined that the Company has control. Further details in respect of these contractual 
interests are set out below. 

 
Structured entities 
The subsidiary, Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., has entered into Contractual Arrangements with 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd., YP and their respective equity holders, which enable Ying Pei Digital 
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and the Group to: 
 

- exercise effective financial and operational control over Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and 
YP;  
 

- exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP; 
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23. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

- receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by Shanghai Zhenyou Network 
Technology Ltd. and YP in consideration for the exclusive consulting services provided by Ying Pei Digital 
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., at the discretion of Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.. The 
consideration of the consulting services payable by Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP 
to Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. under the agreement shall be calculated on a quarterly 
basis, taking into account the costs and expenses incurred by Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., 
Ltd. and the operation performance of Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP. Upon request 
by Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., up to 100% of the net income of Shanghai Zhenyou 
Network Technology Ltd. and YP shall be paid as the consideration of the services to Ying Pei Digital 
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., and shall be payable on a quarterly or an annual basis; 
 

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part of equity interest in and/or assets of 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP from the respective equity holders at a minimum 
purchase price permitted under the PRC laws and regulations. Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., 
Ltd. may exercise such options at any time until it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP; and 

 
- obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP  

from their respective equity holders as collateral security for all of payments of Shanghai Zhenyou 
Network Technology Ltd. and YP due to Ying Pei Digital Technology Shanghai Co., Ltd. and to secure 
performance of the obligations of Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP under the 
Contractual Arrangements. 

 
The Group does not have any equity interest in Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP. However, as 
a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement with 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP and is considered to control Shanghai Zhenyou Network 
Technology Ltd. and YP. Consequently, the Group regards Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP as 
indirect subsidiaries under IFRSs. The Group has consolidated the financial position and financial performance of 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP in the consolidated financial statements during the years.  
 
Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the 
Group with direct control over Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP and uncertainties presented 
by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP. The directors of the Company, based on the advice of its 
legal counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements among Ying Pei Digital Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., 
Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd., YP and their respective equity holders are in compliance with 
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable. However, uncertainties in the PRC legal system 
could limit the Group’s ability to enforce the contractual arrangements. If the legal structure and contractual 
arrangements were found to be in violation of PRC laws and regulations, the PRC government could:  

 
- Revoke the business and operating licenses of Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP;  
 
- Discontinue or restrict the operations of any related party transactions among Shanghai Zhenyou Network 

Technology Ltd. and YP; 
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23. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
- Impose fines or other requirements on Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP; and/or 
 
- Require the Group or Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP to revise the relevant ownership 

structure or restructure operations; and/or 
 
- Restrict or prohibit the Group’s use of the proceeds of the additional public offering to finance the Group’s 

business and operations in the PRC. 
 
The Group’s ability to conduct its business may be negatively affected if the PRC government were to carry out 
any of the aforementioned actions. As a result, the Group may not be able to consolidate Shanghai Zhenyou 
Network Technology Ltd. and YP in its consolidated financial statements as it may lose the ability to exert effective 
control over Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP and it may lose the ability to receive economic 
benefits from Shanghai Zhenyou Network Technology Ltd. and YP. 

 
24. Non-controlling Interests 

 
Axion Games, a 54% owned subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The NCI of 
all other subsidiaries, that are not 100% owned by the Group, are considered to be immaterial.  
 
The following tables list out the information related to the subgroup of Axion Games, the subsidiary of the Group 
which has material non-controlling interests:   

 2018  2017 

 $’000  $’000 

    
Year ended December 31     
Revenue 9,764  6,650 
Cost of sales (4,283)  (2,950) 

    
Gross profit 5,481  3,700 

    

Research and development expenses (1,451)  (1,625) 
Selling and distribution expenses (701)  (1,115) 
General and administrative expenses (1,436)  (2,529) 

    
 1,893  (1,569) 
    
Other (loss)/income (201)  67 

    
Loss before income tax 1,692  (1,502) 
Income tax expense -  - 

    
Profit/(Loss) for the year 1,692  (1,502) 

    
Profit/(Loss) allocated to NCI 696  (763) 
Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI 700  (740) 

    

Revenue above includes revenue from intercompany which is eliminated upon consolidation.  
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24. Non-controlling Interests (continued) 
 

 2018  2017 

 $’000  $’000 

    
As at December 31    
Current assets 2,766  982 
Non-current assets 10,015  7,352 
Current liabilities (10,963)  (7,939) 
    

    
Net assets 1,818  395 

    
Accumulated non-controlling interests 3  251 

    

Year ended December 31    

Cash inflows from operating activities 1,666  570 
Cash inflows from investing activities (2,690)  (2,757) 
Cash inflows from financing activities -  3,128 
Currency translation reserve (38)  - 

    
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (1,062)  941 

    

 
25. Related party transactions 

 
The Company entered into the following related party transactions during the years. 
 
Income in the years: 

 2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000 
    

Outsourcing services fee received from Epic Games International Ltd., a 
shareholder of the Axion Games -  589 
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25. Related party transactions (continued) 

 
Expenses in the years: 

 2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000 
    

Licensing fee – Epic Games International Ltd., a shareholder of the Axion Games 45  35 

 
Key management personnel comprise the directors and the officer of the Company. Their aggregate 
remuneration comprised: 
  

 2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000 
   (Restated) 
    

Wages and salaries 755  604 
Social welfare costs 2  1 
Share-based payments expenses 622  1,085 

    
 1,379  1,690 

Receivables: 
 

 
December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
Loan to related parties     
Red Anchor (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  279  297 
 

Other receivables   
 

 
Epic Games, Inc.  -  130 
Coherent Asia, Limited  15  15 

     
  294  442 

 
Payables: 

 
December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

  $’000  $’000 
Loan from related parties     
Red Anchor Trading Corp.  6,037  - 
Shareholder of Axion Entertainment Holdings Ltd.  1,058  559 
Cern One Limited  800  - 

 
Other payables   

 
 

Epic Games, Inc.  260  224 
Fighter Base Publishing Inc.  58  - 
Coherent Asia, Limited  83  83 
True Digital Plus Co., Ltd.  2  70 

     
  8,298  936 
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26. Operating leases 
 
The Group as a lessee 
The Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases as at the reporting date as follows: 
 
   Land and buildings 
  

 
December 

31, 2018 
 December 

31, 2017 
  $’000  $’000 
     
Not later than one year   915  1,075 
Later than one year and not later than five years  362  709 

     
Total future minimum lease payments  1,277  1,784 

     
The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to five 
years, with an option to renew the lease and renegotiate the terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually 
agreed between the Group and respective landlords/lessors. None of the leases include contingent rentals. 
 

27. Consolidated statement of cash flows - supplemental information  

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 

 
Non-cash transactions: 
 

(i) In May 2018, the Company further increased its beneficial ownership of Axion Games from 51.01% to 
54.22% by acquiring an additional interest of 6,734 shares of AEH, representing a beneficial interest of 
6,734,000 shares of Axion Games, in exchange for assuming a $394,000 shareholder loan owed to 
Axion Games by an ex-officer of Axion Games.  
 

(ii) Shares were issued in connection with payment in kind interest to one of convertible debenture holder 
amounting to $113,574. 

. 

 

 

 

 

December 

31, 2018 

 December 

31, 2017 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Cash available on demand  2,689  3,699 
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28. Financial instruments 
 
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s financial instruments comprise other investments, cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, derivative financial instruments, trade and other payables, loan 
from related parties and convertible debentures. 
 

Financial instruments by category 

 
  

 
December 

31, 2018 
 December 

31, 2017 
   $’000  $’000 
      
Financial assets      
      
Financial assets at fair value:      
Other investments   -  1,521 
Derivative financial instruments   129  - 

      
   129  1,521 

      
Financial assets at amortised cost:      
Cash and cash equivalents   2,689  3,699 
Trade and other receivables   2,216  1,044 

      
   4,905  4,743 

      
Total financial assets   5,034  6,264 

      
Financial liabilities      
      
Financial liabilities at fair value:      
Derivative financial instruments   638  - 

      
      
Financial liabilities at amortised cost      
Trade and other payables   3,586  2,641 
Loan from related parties   7,894  559 
Convertible debentures   3,061  - 

      
   14,541  3,200 

      
Total financial liabilities   15,179  3,200 

 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
Financial instruments not measured at fair value includes cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
and trade and other payables. 
 
The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values because of their current nature.
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial instruments and related risks 
The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk 
management framework.  The Company’s exposures to financial risks and how the Company manages those risks 
are set out below.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Company is exposed to 
liquidity risk in respect of the settlement of trade and other payables, and also in respect of its cash flow 
management.  The Company’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines 
of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. 
 
The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring forecast cash inflows and outflows due in the 
day to day business.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week 
basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-day projection.  Long-term liquidity needs for a 180-day and 360-day 
lookout period are identified monthly.  Net cash requirements are compared to available borrowing facilities in 
order to determine headroom or any shortfalls.  This analysis shows if available borrowing facilities are expected 
to be sufficient over the lookout period. 
 
The Company maintains cash and short-term bank deposits to meet its liquidity requirements for 30-day periods 
at a minimum.  Funding for longer-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the ability to sell longer-term financial assets. 
 
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Company since prior years and are considered to have been 
effective in managing liquidity risks. 
 
Analysed below is the Company’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities at 
each of the reporting dates.  When the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is included 
on the basis of the earliest date on when the Company can be required to pay. 
 

  Within one 
year or 

demand 
  $’000 

At December 31, 2018    
Trade payables  292 
Accrued salaries and benefits  1,788 
Accrued expenses  617 
Other payables  889 
Loan from related parties  7,894 

   
  11,480 
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
At December 31, 2017    
Trade payables  451 
Accrued salaries and benefits  1,638 
Accrued expenses  227 
Other payables  325 
Loan from related parties  559 

   
  3,200 

 
The Company considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity risk: in 
particular, its cash resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash.   
 
Interest rate risk 
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its variable-rate term bank deposit, which attracts interest at a 
rate of prime plus minus 2.10% per annum.  
 
Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that the 
Company incurs in its operations. 
 
The operating subsidiary, Axion Games mainly operates in the PRC and majority of the transactions are settled in 
RMB.  Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.   
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency (as in relation to the functional currency of the relevant 
group entities) denominated monetary assets at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 
 

   Assets 
  

 
December 

31, 2018 
 December 

31, 2017 
   $’000  $’000 

      
$   387  1,499 

 
The Group is mainly exposed to $ relative to the functional currency of the relevant group entities, which are 
mainly CAD. The Group does not have a formal foreign currency hedging policy but management monitors the 
Group’s foreign currency exposure in order to minimise the exchange rate risk.
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in functional currency of 
respective group entities against $. 5% is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes $ monetary assets at 
the end of the reporting period. A negative number below indicates an increase in loss where $ strengthen 5% 
against the functional currency. For a 5% weakening of $ against the functional currency, there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the loss for the year. 
 

  
 

December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

   $’000  $’000 
      
$   19  75 

 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation 
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Company.  
 
The financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk comprise investments, cash and cash 
equivalents and trade receivables, the carrying value of which represents the Company’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk. 
 
The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 
with high credit quality financial institutions.  The Company assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking 
into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. The Company has receivables from 
customers and the general credit terms are from 60 days, and these amounts are generally not collateralised.  
The Company’s trade and other receivables are actively monitored to avoid significant concentrations of credit 
risk.  
 

29. Capital management 
The objectives of the Company when managing capital are to safeguard the ability of the Company in continuing 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in the long term. 
 
The Company monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital structure.  As part of this review, the directors 
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued share capital.  The Company 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. 

 

30. Event after the reporting date  
 
On March 21, 2019, the Company completed a private placement of 5,750,000 common shares at a price of $1.00 
per share to a related party of the Company.   


